defense instruction is given, this non police personnel 
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Navy may be depicted as a "warrior" because of the 
tattoo on his back, to support the state's hypothesis that 
the defendant started the fight. 

5. Whether the prosecution undermines the integrity of 
defense counsel by introducing evidence and arguing 
that defense counsel told a defense witness not to meet 
with a police detective and by meeting with witnesses, 
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counsel helped them get their stories straight; whether 
such disparagement of defense counsel violates the 5th 

amendment. 

6. Whether it is reversibly prejudicial for the State to elicit 
and argue irrelevant and prejudicial evidence that a

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

1. Procedural History 

Appellant Travis Lile was charged on February 21, 2013 with 

the crimes of Assault in the Second Degree of Amanda Millman on 

February 16, 2013 in Bellingham, two counts of Assault in the 

Fourth Degree of Taylor Powell and Christopher Rowles 

respectively, and also with Assault in the Third Degree of 

Bellingham Police Officer Jeremy Woodard, as well as resisting the 

arrest of Officer Woodward. CP 0006, 0007. The incident is 

summarized in the Affidavit of Probable Cause. CP 0009, 0010. 

Defense counsel filed an appearance on February 22, 2013 

and immediately requested by motion the impoundment of the 

video cameras which were on a street light looking down at the 

altercation location. See CP00014-19. Unfortunately, the City of 

Bellingham was not operating the video camera at the time and, as 

a result, no video recordation was recovered by defense motion. 

RP 651-660. 

The case languished for almost a year in order to allow the 

parties to prepare for trial. Lile, a seaman in the United States 

Navy and member of the crew of the USS Nimitz, was given court 
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authorization to deploy in this period. A motion was argued and the 

court order allowed Lile to continue in his duties in the Navy as the 

case awaited trial. When it became apparent the parties could not 

reach any resolution, hearings on pretrial motions commenced. 

On January 22, 2014, the case came on for status review 

before Superior Court Judge Ira Urhig and was continued one week 

upon agreement of the parties. On February 26, 2014, Lile filed an 

affidavit of prejudice against Judge Uhrig. On February 27, 2014 

the state moved to strike the affidavit because Judge Uhrig had 

made a discretionary ruling when he adopted the parties' agreed 

continuance on the previous status calendar. Judge Uhrig ruled that 

the agreed continuance entered on the status calendar was a 

discretionary motion and ruled the affidavit invalid as coming after a 

discretionary ruling had been made in the case, 

Pretrial motions were heard just before trial. The principal 

motion was Lile's motion to admit ER 404 (b) evidence of prior 

assaultive conduct on the part of Christopher Rowles, his primary 

antagonist in the case. Lile claimed that Christopher Rowles was 

the aggressor and forced a confrontation, and that Lile acted in self 

defense. The trial court read all the allegations contained in 

Declaration in Support of Motion to Admit 404 (b) Evidence. See 
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CP 86-194. Lile's ER 404 (b) evidence stemmed from three 

personal protection actions brought against Rowles in Whatcom 

County District and Superior Court resulting in the issuance of two 

personal protection orders. 

2. Statement of the Facts 

This case represents a clear credibility contest pitting 

Christopher Rowles, the boyfriend of Amanda Millman, Ms. 

Millman, and their two friends, Taylor Powell and his wife, Allsya 

Powell, against defendant Lile and his Navy colleagues and 

Cameron Moore, their civilian companion. The altercation from 

which all charges arose took place on a downtown Bellingham 

Street at about midnight on a Friday night in February. Both groups 

had been out on the town and had been consuming alcohol, so 

much so that the prosecutor in final argument ruled that Taylor 

Powell and his wife Allsya were so intoxicated that they could offer 

little in terms of credible evidence to the jury. See prosecutor's 

opening summation, RP 1095. 

It is undisputed that just before the fight, the Navy group was 

walking up Chestnut Street and the Rowles group was walking 

down. Either Amanda Millman or Allysa Powell bumped into Lile or 

came close, an event that spurred the back and forth of epithets. 
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The first bump was followed shortly thereafter by a second bump 

between Lile and Rowles who was following behind. After the 

bump between Lile and Rowles, the fight started. 

Officer Jeremy Woodard observed Rowles being punched by 

Lile from his cruiser at Railroad and Chestnut Streets some 120 

feet way, RP 206 and later observed the fight or encounter from 

close range. But Woodward did not see how the fight started. 

How the fight started was sharply disputed. Christopher 

Rowles, Amanda Millman and their friends' version contradicted the 

testimony of Travis Lile and his companions. 

ARGUMENT 

1. Whether the judge's signature on an agreed order to 
continue on a status calendar falls within the exemption in 
the affidavit of prejudice statute, RCW 4.12.050, which 
states "but the arrangement of the calendar, the setting of an 
action, motion or proceeding down for hearing or trial, the 
arraignment of the accused in a criminal action or the fixing 
of bail, shall not be construed as a ruling or order involving 
discretion within the meaning of this proviso. " 

Whatcom County has three Superior Court judges and just 

recently acquired a fourth. When a case such as the Lile case is 

continued for almost a year before trial, the case is brought before 

the Superior Court approximately every six weeks to two months. 
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This is done by an order which schedules a status hearing on a 

Wednesday morning at 8:30 am and a trial date one week from the 

following Monday at 9 am. All cases not tried or settled appear on 

the status calendar, are called, and the parties are asked about the 

status of the case. If the parties both request trial, the case is 

confirmed for trial and the parties appear one week from the 

following Monday for trial. In this scenario, the parties ready for trial 

appear on the Monday along with all other parties who have 

confirmed for trial. The presiding Superior Court judge, using rules 

of priority for trial, determines which case is tried first. The 

remaining cases are bumped for one week. This process is 

described in the declaration of counsel in support of motion to 

reconsider. CP0061. 

If both of the parties agree they are not ready for trial and 

want a continuance, the case is continued and a new paper order 

with carbon copies is presented with a new status and trial date at 

the status hearing or shortly thereafter. 

At the status hearing where one party wants trial and the 

other wants a continuance, the matter is set over to the criminal 

calendar, which is on Thursday morning at 8:30 am each week. 

Contested motions to continue are not heard on the status calendar 
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in the experience of this counsel. 

In this case, Judge Ira Uhrig presided at a status hearing on 

January 22, 2014. At this time he continued the case for one week 

on agreement of the parties. On February 6, 2014, just before the 

status hearing on that day, Lile filed an affidavit of prejudice against 

Judge Uhrig, CO 0046,. Judge Uhrig considered the affidavit at the 

state's request to have it invalidated. 

The deputy prosecutor argued that the order of continuance, 

although agreed to, invoked a discretionary act from Judge Uhrig 

barring Lile's later filing of his affidavit of prejudice. Report of 

Proceedings of February 6, 2014, page 7, lines 5-16. In response 

to the court's request for precedent, the deputy prosecutor cited 

State v. Parra, 122 Wn.2d 590, 859 P.2d 1231 (1993). 

Defense counsel described the January 22 hearing as a 

Super Bowl continuance for reasons suggested by deputy 

prosecutor. Report of Proceedings of February 6, 2014 page 9, 

lines 11-15. Defense argued the agreed order of continuance 

came within the language of the Affidavit of Prejudice statute. The 

prosecutor's remarks to Judge Uhrig explain the brief court 

appearance February 3, 2014. On that date, the prosecutor 

presented a written order reflecting the earlier agreement from the 
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January 22, 2014 status calendar. Report of Proceedings of 

February 6, 2014, page 12, lines 21-25, page 1-5. 

The court adopted the state's argument. The rationale for the 

court's decision is found at Report of Proceedings of February 6, 

2014, page 12, lines 21-25, page 13- to top of 15. Essentially 

Judge Uhrig ruled that because he had previously denied agreed 

continuances presented at status hearings in other cases, his 

adoption of an agreed continuance in Lile's case was a 

discretionary act. 

Lile moved to reconsider and filed a declaration. CP 60-63 

and memorandum in support of his request. The motion was 

denied. 

Lile contends that the agreed pushing of the trial date for a 

week to accommodate the litigants fails within the ambit of activity 

within the proviso of RCW 4.12.050: "but the arrangement of the 

calendar, the setting of an action, motion or proceeding down for 

hearing or trial, the arraignment of the accused in a criminal action 

or the fixing of bail, shall not be construed as a ruling or order 

involving discretion within the meaning of this proviso. " 

Lile recognizes there is case law stating that the granting or 

denial of a motion for a continuance is a discretionary act, but those 
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cases apply only where there is a bona fide contested motion to 

continue. Donaldson v. Greenwood, 40 Wash.2d 238, 242 P.2d 

1038 (1952); State v. Maxwell, 46 Wn.2d 822, 285 P.2d 887 (1995); 

State v. Guajardo, 50 Wn.App. 16, 746 P.2d 1231 (1987). In all 

these cases the request for a continuance was contested. In 

contrast, orders continuing trials presented at status hearings are 

merely calendaring changes arranged by the litigants by agreement 

and acquiesced in by the status calendar judge. If the status 

calendar judge does not want to enter the order, or the parties 

cannot agree and want to change the trial date, the status calendar 

judges transfers the case to the criminal calendar on Thursday 

morning at 8:30 am for argument. 

The state argued below that the dispositive case is State v. 

Parra, 122 Wn2d 590, 859 P.2d 1231 (1993). In that case, the 

Supreme Court ruled that an agreed omnibus application order 

approval by a Superior Court Judge constituted a discretionary 

ruling. 

Parra is inapposite because it plainly involved the court's 

decisions on multiple motions in an omnibus application. The 

omnibus application is set forth in detail in CrR 4.5. It 

encompasses 22 separate motions for the defendant and 20 for 

8 



the State. Parra, 122 Wn.2d at 591. The gamut of motions in the 

omnibus application range from asking for dismissal for failure to 

state an offense, to informing the defendant of information 

indicating entrapment, to requiring the results of scientific tests, and 

to supplying the names of witnesses. Parra, 122 Wn.2d at 598. 

State v. Dixon, 74 Wn.2d 700, 446 P.2d 329 (1968), is the 

case closest to the facts of the instant case. In Dixon, the defendant 

filed a motion to suppress and dismiss and noted it for hearing on 

October 9, 1968 before the motions judge. The opinion took care 

to point out that King County had (at that time) 22 superior court 

judges who were rotated monthly to serve as motions judge. 

Qixon, 74 Wn.2d at 701 n.1. In Dixon, the prosecutor moved to 

renote the time of the defense suppression motion from October 9 

back to September 27. The prosecutor's motion to renote was 

granted by the September motions judge. On September 26, 1968, 

after the motions judge had ruled on the motion to renote, Dixon 

filed an affidavit of prejudice against the September motions judge. 

The motions judge ruled that the earlier decision on the State's 

motion to move the date for hearing of the suppression motion 

involved a discretionary act warranting striking of the affidavit of 

prejudice. Dixon appealed from this ruling. 
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The Washington Supreme Court granted Dixon's request for 

a writ to prohibit the September motions judge from hearing his 

motions to dismiss and suppress, stating that the decision granting 

the State's notion to renote was a calendaring action that did not 

amount to a discretionary decision for purposes of the affidavit of 

prejudice statute: 

Furthermore, it is our view that the setting and/or 
renoting and resetting of a cause or motion for 
hearing on the merits is a preliminary matter falling 
squarely within the ambit and contemplation of the 
proviso to RCW 4.12.050. This proviso specifically 
excludes from the discretionary classification 
otherwise referred to therein those orders and/or 
rulings relating to 'the arrangement of the calendar' or 
'the setting of an action, motion or proceeding down 
for hearing or trial.' This language, in our view, clearly 
embraces the calendaring action taken by the motion 
calendar judge in resetting petitioner's motions 
pursuant to the state's motion. 

Here Lile just presented an agreed order at status hearing. 

Nobody quibbled about it. The order merely adjusted the trial 

commencement time by one week. There was nothing to argue 

about as the parties had agreed on the continuance before the 

status calendar. 

Just as the motions calendar judge changed the date for the 

argument in Dixon on the defendant's motions to dismiss from 

October 9, 1968 back to September 27, 1968, Judge Uhrig pushed 
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the time for trial forward one week when the parties presented an 

agreed order. What took place was a calendar adjustment setUng 

the case for trial, not a contested motion for continuance. 

2. That the trial court erred in denying defendant's motion 
for severance. 

Lile moved to sever the two counts of 3rd degree assault and 

resisting arrest involving his post assault flight from the scene and 

his ensuing struggle with Bellingham Police Officer Woodward, 

from the assault charges against Christopher Rowles, Amanda 

Millman and Taylor Powell. Judge Uhrig ruled on Lile's motion to 

sever after he had rejected Lile's affidavit of prejudice. 

Lile argued that the incident should be severed into two trials. 

The first would be a trial encompassing Lile's alleged assault of 

Amanda Millman, Christopher Rowles and Taylor Powell. 1 The 

second trial would focus on Lile's flight from the scene and his 

arrest by Bellingham Police Officer Woodward. 

Severance of offenses shall be granted when "the court 

determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the 

defendant's guilt or innocence of each offense." CrR. 4.4(b). A 

1 The assault charge against Lile involving Taylor Powell was dismissed on the 
eve of trial for lack of evidence. 
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defendant seeking severance bears the burden of demonstrating 

that the prejudice of trying the counts together outweighs any 

concern for judicial economy. State v. Bythrow, 114 Wash.2d 713, 

718, 790 P.2d 154 (1990); State v. Cotten, 75 Wash.App. 669, 686, 

879 P.2d 971 (1994), review denied, 126 Wash.2d 1004, 891 P.2d 

38 (1995). The denial of a motion to sever offenses will be reversed 

on appeal only upon a showing that the trial court manifestly 

abused its discretion. Bythrow, 114 Wash.2d at 717, 790 P.2d 154. 

Joinder may result in prejudice if it allows the jury to "cumulate 

the evidence of the various crimes charged and find guilt when, if 

considered separately, it would not so find." Bythrow, 114 Wash.2d 

at 718, 790 P.2d 154, (quoting State v. Smith, 74 Wash.2d 744, 

755, 446 P.2d 571 (1968), overruled on other grounds, State v. 

Gosby, 85 Wash.2d 758, 539 P.2d 680 (1975)). In determining 

whether potential prejudice exists "a trial court must consider (1) 

the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (2) the clarity of 

defenses as to each count; (3) court instructions to the jury to 

consider each count separately; and (4) the admissibility of 

evidence of the other charges even if not joined for trial." State v. 

Russell, 125 Wash.2d 24, 63, 882 P.2d 747 (1994) (citing Smith, 74 
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Wash.2d at 755-56, 446 P.2d 571), cert. denied, 514 U.S. 1129, 

115 S.Ct. 2004, 131L.Ed.2d1005 (1995). 

All of these factors supported the defense motion to sever. 

The police officer in this case was just trying to apprehend one of 

the persons involved in fighting in the city streets of Bellingham. His 

testimony that he was assaulted and that Lile also resisted arrest 

was supported by the testimony of other police officers. The 

evidence supporting the counts involving the police officer was 

distinct. Trying all counts together allowed the jury to cumulate the 

evidence and find guilt both as to the Rowles group and as to the 

officer when, if tried separately, the jury may well not have so 

found. 

As to the fight involving Lile and Rowles and Powell, the 

adversary parties disputed the facts. This case was considerably 

weaker than the State's case in the police assault case. Lile got the 

benefit of self-defense instructions with respect to the assault 

charges against Millman Rowles and Powell. Lile's request for a 

self-defense instruction regarding his involvement with Officer 

Woodward was rejected. 

The joinder of all the charges prejudiced Lile because the 

strength of the state's case in the assault of the non-police persons 
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was considerably weaker than the state's case charging Lile with 

assault of a police officer and resisting. There is no significant 

police or non-involved third person testimony relating to how the 

fight between Rowles and Lile started. Officer Jeremy Woodward 

did not see how the fight started. If severance was granted, 

evidence of the untried event (Lile's encounter with Officer 

Woodward) would not have been admissible in the severed trial on 

charges of assaulting the non-police persons. The allegations that 

Lile resisted arrest and in the process assaulted the police officer 

has no relevance as to whether Lile had earlier acted in self 

defense or not. 

Judge Uhrig erred in his ruling on the severance motion. Not 

only did he err, but he should have disqualified himself due to the 

affidavit of prejudice, and this would have allowed a different judge 

to rule on the severance motion. 

3. That the trial court erred in refusing to permit evidence of 
Christopher Rowles' two previous orders of adjudication 
for domestic violence, after Rowles testified on cross 
examination that he was not a fighting person. 

Lile moved pretrial to admit evidence of Rowles' prior 

adjudications and charges of harassment under ER 404(b). CP 86-

194. Pretrial motions were heard just before trial. The principal 
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motion was Lile's motion to admit ER 404 (b) evidence of prior 

assaultive conduct on the part of Christopher Rowles. The trial 

court read all the allegations contained in Declaration in Support of 

Motion to Admit 404 (b) Evidence and refused to allow them in for 

impeachment, on the basis that Rowles' prior assaults were not 

similar in fact pattern to the assaultive behavior Rowles exhibited in 

the instant case. 

The record, CP 86-194, shows that in Whatcom County 

District Court Cause No. DV 11-45, a woman, Nicole Foster, filed 

for a personal protection order against Christopher Rowles on July 

11, 2011. This petition resulted in an uncontested order by default. 

These allegations were primarily of Rowles stalking Ms. Foster. 

On June 20, 2012, Nicole Foster filed another harassment 

petition in Whatcom County Cause No. 12-2-01493-7. She 

complained "any time we have a disagreement Chris gets really 

mad and he gets right in my face, looming over me and blocking 

me with his body so I can not get away." Petition for Order for 

Protection, page 5. The allegations involve Rowles blocking Ms. 

Foster's exit and grabbing her by the wrist after an argument. This 

allegation was dismissed when the allegation was withdrawn by 

Nicole Foster. 
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On November 12, 2012 in Whatcom County Cause No. 12-

2-02787-7, Superior Court Commissioner Martha Gross heard 

testimony of an incident on October 14, 2012 and an accusation 

that Rowles had grabbed away a phone that Nicole Foster was 

going to use to call 911 and grabbed her by the wrist and threw her 

down on the bed. A personal protection order was issued against 

Mr. Rowles. 

The trial court here decided pretrial not to allow this evidence 

in. However, later during the trial, Lile raised the issue again when 

Rowles' testimony opened the door to it. During cross examination, 

Rowles testified that Lile and his associates shouted profanities 

toward Amanda Millman. When asked whether the shouting of 

profanities caused him concern, Rowles answered that he was "not 

a fighting guy." RP 528. 

Ten pages later in the cross examination, Rowles testified he 

was punched three times by Lile but did not punch back. When 

pressed as to why he did not punch back, Rowles testified, "I didn't 

[punch back], I'm not a fighter. I did not want to be a fighter." RP 

538. 

Defense counsel raised the matter in the absence of the jury:

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