71912-2

71912-2

FILED
Aug 27, 2015
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington

No. 71912-2-I

**COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION ONE**

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

TRAVIS LEE LILE, Appellant.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

**DAVID S. McEACHRAN,
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By HILARY A. THOMAS
Appellate Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Respondent
WSBA #22007 / ADMIN. #91075**

**Whatcom County Prosecutor's Office
311 Grand Avenue, Second Floor
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360) 676-6784**

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

D. ARGUMENT

1. The court did not abuse its discretion in denying the affidavit of prejudice as untimely because the court had previously made a discretionary decision regarding continuing the trial date.

Lile asserts that the Judge Uhrig erred in denying his motion to recognize filing of an affidavit of prejudice against him claiming that the granting of an uncontested continuance motion is not a discretionary ruling under the statute and under the local customs of the trial court. The granting of a continuance of a trial date is discretionary with the trial court even if the other party agrees to the continuance. Even if the local norms superseded the statutory provisions, the judge here noted that he had denied agreed motions to continue trial dates in the past, so his decision was still discretionary. The judge therefore did not abuse his discretion in denying the motion as untimely.

The statutory provision regarding affidavits of prejudice provides:

Any party to or any attorney appearing in any action or proceeding in a superior court, may establish such prejudice by motion, supported by affidavit that the judge before whom the action is pending is prejudiced against such party or attorney, so that such party or attorney cannot, or believes that he or she cannot, have a fair and impartial trial before such judge: PROVIDED, *That such motion and affidavit is filed and called to the attention of the judge before he or she shall have made any ruling whatsoever in the*

case, either on the motion of the party making the affidavit, or on the motion of any other party to the action, of the hearing of which the party making the affidavit has been given notice, and before the judge presiding has made any order or ruling involving discretion, but the arrangement of the calendar, the setting of an action, motion or proceeding down for hearing or trial, the arraignment of the accused in a criminal action or the fixing of bail, shall not be construed as a ruling or order involving discretion within the meaning of this proviso; ...

RCW 4.12.050(1) (emphasis added). A party has a mandatory right to one affidavit of prejudice if the affidavit is timely filed. State v. Parra, 122 Wn.2d 590, 594, 859 P.2d 1231 (1993). In order to be entitled to a change of judge, the party must file a motion and affidavit of prejudice. In re Recall of Lindquist, 172 Wn.2d 120, 129, 258 P.3d 9 (2011). The party is to set forth in the affidavit that the judge is prejudiced against the party. *Id.* If a party fails to file the requisite motion and affidavit of prejudice, the affidavit of prejudice is subject to dismissal. *Id.*

A party is not entitled to a change of judge if the affidavit is untimely. An affidavit of prejudice is timely filed if it is filed before a discretionary decision is made by the judge. Parra, 122 Wn.2d at 594. A judge *may* continue a trial date to a specified date upon written agreement of the parties. CrR 3.3(f)(1) (emphasis added). “Grant or denial of a continuance is a discretionary ruling because the court must consider various factors, such as diligence, materiality, due process, a need for an orderly procedure, and the possible impact of the result on the trial.” In re

Lindquist, 172 Wn.2d at 130 (quoting State v. Guajardo, 50 Wn. App. 16, 19, 746 P.2d 1231 (1987)); *see also*, State v. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d 609, 620, 801 P.2d 193 (1990) (grant or denial of continuance is an example of a ruling that involves the exercise of the trial court's discretion).

Continuances are discretionary with the trial court and are reviewed only for manifest abuse of discretion. In re Lindquist, 172 Wn.2d at 130.

Lile asserts that his request for a continuance falls within the language of the statute that states that arranging the calendar or setting matters for hearing are not discretionary acts under the statute. A similar argument was made in In re Lindquist. In that case, the petitioners did not participate in a scheduled telephone conference during which the other party informed the judge of a conflict regarding a scheduled hearing date. In re Lindquist, 172 Wn.2d at 126. A continuance would have extended the hearing beyond a statutory deadline, and the judge denied the request. *Id.* at 126. After that decision the petitioner filed an affidavit of prejudice against the judge who denied the continuance request. *Id.* The judge dismissed the affidavit as untimely, as well as denying based on the requisite motion not having been filed. *Id.* at 127. On appeal, the petitioner argued that the judge's decision to deny the continuance request was not discretionary because the hearing date was dictated by statutory provisions. *Id.* at 130. The court affirmed the dismissal of the affidavit

despite the mandatory language of the statute, finding that continuances were discretionary. Here, the court rule language is discretionary, a judge *may* grant a continuance of the trial date upon written agreement of the parties. The judge's decision to grant the continuance request was discretionary.

Lile was arraigned on March 1, 2013 and a trial date of May 20, 2013 was set. Supp CP __, Sub Nom 12, 13. Lile had requested a trial date in October, but the prosecutor objected. Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 12, 13. Defense filed another couple of motions for continuances of varying lengths, despite the prosecutor's objections to some of them, and ultimately obtained a trial date of October 21, 2013. Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 16, 19, 20, 21, 24, 31, 33, 34.¹ On Oct. 9, 2013, Judge Garrett again continued the trial date to January 13, 2014 despite the prosecutor's concerns regarding the continuances. Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 36, 37. On January 13, 2014 at the status hearing Judge Uhrig granted a one week continuance of that hearing. Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 47. On January 15, a trial setting order was entered setting the matter on for February 3rd for trial and January 22nd for status. Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 48.

¹ In a memorandum in support of one of the continuance requests, defense acknowledged that the "matter of a request for a continuance is discretionary with the court." Supp CP __, Sub Nom. 20 at 2.

On January 22, 2014, about 8 months after the original trial date, defense counsel informed Judge Uhrig that the prosecutor had agreed to set the case over one week, with a new trial date of February 10th, informing the court that it was what was known as a “Super Bowl continuance.” 1RP 3. At the next status conference, before Judge Uhrig again, defense counsel indicated that the order setting dates previously agreed upon would be filed. Supp CP ___, Sub Nom. 51. On February 3rd, the order setting the trial date for February 10th was signed by Judge Uhrig and filed. Supp CP ___, Sub Nom 53, 53A; 1RP 5.

A couple days later at defense motion to sever counts for trial, defense counsel informed Judge Uhrig that his client had filed an affidavit of prejudice against Judge Uhrig that morning. 1RP 6. No affidavit of prejudice signed by Lile appears in the court docket, however. Defense counsel did file a motion to recognize filing of an affidavit of prejudice, and his declaration in support thereof indicates that he had been instructed to file an affidavit of prejudice by his client and referenced a declaration of prejudice filed by his client. Counsel’s affidavit, however, did not specifically allege that Judge Uhrig was prejudiced against his client and therefore could not obtain a fair trial. CP 46-47.

The prosecutor objected to the filing of an affidavit of prejudice as untimely on the basis that the judge had made a discretionary decision in

granting the continuance on January 22nd, even though the continuance had been agreed. 1RP 7. Defense counsel reminded the court it had been a Super Bowl continuance, that it had been an agreed continuance. 1RP 9-11. The prosecutor noted that even when a continuance is agreed, the judge still has the discretion to deny it. 1RP 11-13. Judge Uhrig denied the affidavit, finding that his granting of the continuance was discretionary, noting that he had denied agreed continuances in the past, although infrequently. 1RP 13-14.

Judge Uhrig then proceeded to address a defense motion to continue the trial date and the defense motion to sever counts. The judge deferred the continuance until a firm date could be worked out and denied the motion to sever. 1RP 15-34. Judge Uhrig did not preside over the trial, Judge Garrett did. CP 204.

Lile contends that because the prosecutor agreed to the one week continuance and the request was made a status hearing, that the judge's decision was not discretionary. However, in Dennison, the parties had stipulated to a continuance, and the reviewing court still concluded that the judge's decision regarding the continuance was discretionary, and therefore the affidavit of prejudice untimely. Dennison, 115 Wn.2d at 620, n10; *see also*, Parra, 122 Wn.2d at 603 (“... matters relating merely to the conduct of a pending proceeding, or to the designation of the issues

involved, *affecting only the rights or convenience of the parties, not involving any interference with the duties and functions of the court*, may be the subject of a stipulation.”) (emphasis added).

Moreover, Judge Uhrig indicated that he did not always grant continuances that were agreed. The fact that the prosecutor agreed to the continuance does not render the judge’s decision non-discretionary. The case had been continued eight months beyond the original trial date, and the prosecutor had objected to some of the previous continuances. The reason given for the continuance request was that it was the Super Bowl. Given these circumstances, this was a case in which the judge might have decided not to grant the continuance even though it was agreed.

Lile relies upon State v. Dixon, 74 Wn.2d 700, 446 P.2d 329 (1968), in asserting that the continuance here was not discretionary. Dixon did not involve the continuance of a trial date, but the resetting of a date for a motion to suppress to an earlier date than that originally set by the defendant. In having its motion to renote the hearing date for an earlier date granted, the State essentially chose a different judge to hear the motion given the way the judicial rotation calendar worked in King County at the time of the case. Ultimately the court issued the writ of prohibition regarding the judge’s denial of the affidavit of prejudice because the court believed it would be “manifestly unfair to compel

petitioner to expend, mayhaps uselessly, his motion and affidavit of prejudice prior to the conclusion of the hearing” regarding the state’s motion to renote because the state’s motion to renote created the uncertainty regarding which judge would preside over the hearing on the merits. Id. at 703. The court also commented that it believed the resetting of the petitioner’s motion pursuant to the state’s motion fell within the language of RCW 4.12.050 regarding the arrangement of the calendar or the setting of an action or motion for hearing. Id.

The hearing at issue in Dixon was not the *continuance* of a trial date, and therefore the provision in CrR 3.3(f)(1) did not apply. The continuance granted here fell within that discretionary rule and did not involve just the setting of a matter on the calendar, but impacted the duties and administration of the court. If the statute meant to have included continuances of trial dates, it could have said so, and subsequent caselaw makes clear that the continuance of a trial date is a discretionary decision.

In addition, it is unclear that the motion and affidavit filed by defense counsel satisfied the requirement of filing an affidavit stating that the defendant or counsel believed that the judge was prejudiced. Defense counsel referenced a declaration of his client, Lile, however none appears in the record.

While the statute provides for a mandatory right assuming compliance with its other provisions, the trial here was not presided over by Judge Uhrig, the judge that Lile sought to remove. While Judge Uhrig did decide Lile's motion to sever the counts for trial, such decision was clearly within the court's discretion, as argued herein subsequently, and any judge likely would have made the same decision given the facts of this case. Reversal of the trial would not be warranted where the judge sought to be removed did not preside over the trial.

2. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion for severance of counts where some of the evidence of regarding the counts would have been admitted as to the other counts.

Lile next asserts that the trial court erred in denying his motion to sever counts I and II regarding the assaults on Rowles and Millman from counts III and IV regarding the assault on the officer and resisting arrest. The trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the severance motion because Officer Woodward was a witness to the assault on Millman, and the reason for the officer's pursuit and subsequent arrest of Lile, which occurred within minutes of the assaults, would have been at issue regarding counts III and IV. In addition, the assaults in Counts I and II were the basis for the lawful arrest of Lile. Moreover, Lile waived the

issue regarding severance when he failed to reassert his motion at the close of evidence.

Trial courts may properly join multiple offenses for trial pursuant to RCW 10.37.060 and CrR 4.3. The joinder rule under CrR 4.3 is construed broadly to promote conservation of judicial and prosecution resources. State v. Bryant, 89 Wn. App. 857, 864, 950 P.2d 1004 (1998), *rev. den.*, 137 Wn.2d 1017 (1999). Offenses properly joined under CrR 4.3(a) shall be consolidated for trial unless the court determines that severance will promote a fair determination of the defendant's guilt or innocence for each offense. CrR 4.3.1; CrR 4.4(b); Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 864.

a. waiver

Lile failed to preserve the denial of his severance motion for appellate review by failing to renew his motion at the close of evidence. If a defendant moves for severance pretrial but fails to renew the motion before or at the close of all evidence, the defendant waives the issue of severance and may not raise it on appeal. CrR 4.4(a)(2); State v. McDaniel, 155 Wn. App. 829, 859, 230 P.3d 245, *rev. den.*, 169 Wn.2d 1027 (2010); Bryant, 89 Wn. App. at 864-65. Lile did not renew his

motion for severance before or at the close of all evidence, therefore he is precluded from raising it on appeal.

b. trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the severance motion

Even if this Court were to address the merits of this issue, Lile has failed to meet his burden to show that joinder in this case was so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh the need for judicial economy. The defendant seeking severance has the burden of demonstrating that joinder is so manifestly prejudicial as to outweigh concerns for judicial economy. State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 135, 882 P.2d 747 (1994); State v. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d 713, 718, 790 P.2d 154 (1990). The failure of the trial court to sever counts is reversible only upon a showing that the court's decision was a manifest abuse of discretion. Bythrow, 114 Wn.2d at 717-18. "In order to support a finding that the trial court abused its discretion in denying severance, the defendant must be able to point to specific prejudice." *Id.* at 720.

In determining whether the denial of a motion to sever amounts to manifest abuse of discretion, the reviewing court must balance the potential prejudice against the following prejudice-mitigating factors: (1) the jury's ability to compartmentalize the evidence, (2) the strength of the State's evidence on each count; (3) the clarity of defenses as to each

count; (4) the court's instruction to the jury to consider each count separately; and (5) the cross-admissibility of the evidence of the offenses charged even if not joined for trial. State v. Kalakosky, 121 Wn.2d 525, 852 P.2d 1064 (1993).

Evidence of other misconduct is admissible under ER 404(b) if it is res gestae of the crime. Under this permissible purpose, evidence of other bad acts is admissible in order to complete the story or "to provide the immediate context for events close in time and place to the charged crime." State v. Warren, 134 Wn. App. 44, 62, 138 P.3d 1081 (2006), *aff'd on other grounds*, 165 Wn.2d 17 (2008), *cert. den.*, 129 S.Ct. 2007 (2009). "A defendant cannot insulate himself by committing a string of connected offenses and then argue that the evidence of the other uncharged crimes is inadmissible because it shows the defendant's bad character, thus forcing the State to present a fragmented version of the events." State v. Lillard, 122 Wn. App. 422, 431, 93 P.3d 969 (2004), *rev. den.*, 154 Wn.2d 1002 (2005).

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